THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

MAR 08 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001247

Thomas Contreras, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

St. John's Fire District Commission, Employer, and
State Accident Fund, Carrier, Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Gary Christmas
HOWELL & CHRISTMAS, LLC
P.O. Box 1896
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465
(843) 849-2800

Stephen B. Samuels
SAMUELS LAW FIRM, LLC
1320 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-4000
stephen@samuelslawfirm.net

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in reversing the Single Commissioner § 42-9-20 disability award and finding the injury was limited to the shoulder, when Appellant suffered a permanent loss of earnings capacity from distinct injuries resulting in physical affect and impairment to multiple scheduled body parts (shoulder, arm, and clavicle).
2. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in finding “That the Single Commissioner did not find the clavicle compensable and that issue was not appealed,” when the issue was not specifically addressed nor decided with finality by the Single Commissioner decided with finality, nor required to be appealed by the prevailing party at trial.
3. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in finding Appellant was entitled to past temporary partial as previously ordered by the Single Commissioner, yet made no findings or award on the issue and prohibited Appellant from raising the issue after the remand, thus depriving Appellant of due process and a substantial vested benefit to which he was entitled under the Act.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This workers' compensation appeal arises out of work-related injuries to the right arm, shoulder and clavicle sustained by the Appellant, Thomas Contreras, on October 8, 2008 in his employment with the St. Johns Fire District Commission (hereinafter "St. John's."). St. John's accepted Contreras's claim and began providing various benefits under Title 42, the Workers' Compensation Act. Contreras received medical treatment primarily from Dr. James DeMarco. Dr. DeMarco ultimately performed four surgeries on Contreras – all for the shoulder, with the last including surgery to the arm itself (the long head of the biceps muscle). [R. p. 138]. As a result of these injuries, Contreras is unable to return to his previous employment as a firefighter. He reached MMI on August 7, 2012.

On February 12, 2013, Contreras filed a Form 50 (Employee's Request for Hearing) seeking additional medical treatment and disability compensation. He specifically alleged he had suffered a permanent loss of earnings capacity as defined under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 (2007). [R. pp. 77 - 78].

St. John's timely filed a Form 51 (Employer's Answer), admitting a "right shoulder injury only."

A hearing was held before Commissioner Gene McCaskill on May 14, 2013. Contreras testified on his own behalf. Evidence was presented regarding medical treatment, the extent of injuries and impairment, and vocational evidence establishing Contreras' injury related loss of earnings capacity.

Commissioner McCaskill issued a Decision and Order on August 27, 2013, making the following pertinent findings of fact:

That, I find, that on or about October 8, 2008, Claimant suffered injury by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of employment, wherein he injured his **right shoulder and right upper extremity**. [R. p. 22, lines 9 - 11 (emphasis added)].

That, based on the record as a whole, I conclude the greater weight of the evidence, dictates that the Claimant has suffered permanent partial wage loss, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20. [R. p. 25, lines 13 - 15].

Based on these findings, Commissioner McCaskill ordered St. John's to pay 340 weeks of permanent partial disability to Contreras, along with providing ongoing post-MMI medical treatment.

St. John's timely filed a Form 30 (Notice of Appeal) on September 3, 2013. [R. pp. 474 - 475].

The Appellate Panel heard oral arguments on December 16, 2013. The Appellate Panel issued a Decision and Order on May 5, 2014. The Appellate Panel affirmed in part, reversed in part and remanded to the jurisdictional Commissioner for a determination of an award to the Claimant's right shoulder under 42-9-30. [R. pp. 35 - 51].

Specifically, the Appellate Panel deleted the injury to the right upper extremity in Commissioner McCaskill's finding of fact #3, changing it to read: "Claimant suffered an injury to his right shoulder on October 8, 2008 in the course and scope of his employment." [R. p. 45, lines 18 - 19]. Although still finding Contreras had proven an actual loss of earning capacity, the Appellate Panel reversed the award for lost earning capacity based on the injury being limited to the shoulder alone. As such, the Appellate Panel held the award should be made under the scheduled member statute, section 42-9-30, rather than under Section 42-9-20.

The Panel also added five other findings relevant to this appeal:

That Dr. DeMarco, the authorized treating orthopedic surgeon, issued a rating on August 7, 2012. Dr. DeMarco found that the Claimant had a 9% permanent partial impairment to the shoulder and that **this included 3% biceps atrophy**, 3% for loss of internal rotation, 2% for loss of forward flexion and 1% for pain and muscle spasm. There is no separate rating to the upper extremity. [R. p. 46, lines 2 - 6 (emphasis added)].

Dr. Hughes, an orthopedist, performed an IME at the Claimant's request and issued a 14% permanent impairment rating to the Claimant's right shoulder and a 10% rating for the clavicle injury. [R. p. 46, lines 7 - 9].

That the Single Commissioner did not find the clavicle compensable and that issue was not appealed. [R. p. 46, lines 13 - 14].

That the Claimant's injury is limited to the right shoulder. [R. p. 49, line 19].

Claimant is entitled to an award under 42-9-30 for the right shoulder. [R. p. 49, line 20].

Additionally, the Appellate Panel held Appellant "is entitled to a lump sum payment for any and all past due temporary partial disability benefits." [R. p. 48, lines 18 - 19]. However, the Panel eliminated a specific finding of fact supporting the award and made no findings of its own as to what the award should be.

On June 3, 2014, Contreras timely filed his Notice of Appeal to the Court of Appeals. The Court dismissed the appeal as interlocutory pursuant to Bone v. U.S. Food Serv., 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013). [R. pp. 52 - 53].

The Appellate Panel then remanded to the original Single Commissioner, Commissioner McCaskill. The Single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order on October 22, 2015, wherein he found Contreras had suffered a 35% permanent partial disability to his right shoulder. [R. p. 61]. The Single Commissioner added

he was limited by the remand instructions strictly to addressing permanent partial disability to the right shoulder. He therefore did not address the past due temporary partial disability benefits.

Contreras timely filed his Form 30 (Notice of Appeal) to the Full Commission on November 4, 2015.

The Appellate Panel issued its Decision and Order on May 27, 2016 fully affirming the Single Commissioner's Order on remand – including the holding that temporary partial could not be addressed. [R. pp. 62 - 70].

This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Thomas Contreras was employed with the St. John's Fire District Commission for twenty-two years, rising to the rank of Captain. He also worked part-time in a bowling alley and as a vending machine tender.

As being a firefighter requires great physical strength and stamina, St. John's requires its employees to engage in physical training. On October 8, 2008, Contreras injured his right shoulder and right bicep while lifting weights at the fire station. [R. p. 551, lines 3 - 23].

Following the injury, Contreras never returned to fighting fires. After undergoing four operations to his shoulder – including one specifically to the biceps in his right arm – Contreras was formally terminated from the Fire Department on January 21, 2011 due to his physical limitations. [R. pp. 549, line 9 - R. p. 550, line 20; R. p. 555, lines 12 - 18; 327].

Dr. DeMarco performed all 4 surgeries.¹ The fourth and final surgery was done on March 29, 2012. Dr. DeMarco described it as “arthroscopic major debridement of intra-articular synovitis with coracoid decompression, subacromial decompression and bursectomy, and long head of biceps tenodesis.”² [R. p. 103]. The surgery involved implanting a “biceps tenodesis screw.” [R. p. 138]

Contreras described it in layperson’s terms: “The fourth surgery was the bicep where he cut it up right in here and moved it and screwed it to the bone.” Contreras stated he still had pain and permanent problems in both his right shoulder and bicep. [R. p. 554, line 24 - p. 555, line 11].

Dr. DeMarco’s records confirm that the fourth surgery was specifically intended - albeit unsuccessfully – to alleviate arm pain, specifically “biceps tendinopathy” [R. pp. 138 - 139]. Dr. DeMarco described the scenario at length on November 22, 2011:

At this point Mr. Contreras continues to complain persistently of **long head of the biceps** and bicipital groove pain. . . . He has failed injections, it has been over a year, he continues having pain, and the 1 thing about him is that he has been completely consistent with where his pain is, directly over the bicipital groove. [The previous surgeries] did help with some of the other pain, but he is left with **biceps pain** which now need to be addressed. This is still considered as workers’ comp injury as directly and causely [sic] related to his injury on 10/08/2008. [R. p. 114 (emphasis added)].

¹Dr. DeMarco operated on January 29, 2009; October 1, 2009; October 11, 2010; and March 29, 2012. [R. pp. 138 - 145].

²The biceps is a two-headed muscle that lies on the upper arm between the shoulder and the elbow. It is made up of two bundles of muscles - the long head and short head. The surgery was specifically to address “long head of the biceps pain.” [R. p. 138].

Dr. DeMarco definitively confirmed that both the shoulder and arm were injured and affected in a questionnaire response on October 24, 2012. Dr. DeMarco agreed: “Most probably, and to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Mr. Contreras’ injuries to his right shoulder and right upper extremity, (right biceps) are caused by and/or aggravated by the injuries he sustained in his October 8, 2008, accident at work.” He further confirmed: “Mr. Contreras’ injuries to his right shoulder affects his right upper extremity by way of radiating pain and tenderness into his right biceps as a result of his October 8, 2008 accident at work.” [R. p. 101]. Finally, when he did address the permanent impairment rating, he specifically assigned a 3% permanent impairment for “biceps atrophy.” [R. p. 104].

The second opinion doctor, Dr. Hughes, agreed. He signed a similar questionnaire, stating: “Most probably and to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Mr. Contreras’ injuries to his right shoulder, right upper extremity, right biceps and clavicle are caused by and/or aggravated by the injuries he sustained in his October 8, 2008, accident at work.” [R. p. 94]. Dr. Hughes added the “injuries to his right shoulder affects his right upper extremity by way of pain and tenderness into his right biceps and clavicle as a result of his October 8, 2008 accident at work.” [R. p. 94].

Dr. Hughes examined Contreras on October 6, 2011 – before the third and fourth surgeries. He assigned impairment ratings of 14% to the arm and 10% to the upper extremity. Notably, he also opined Contreras was limited to 10 pound lifting due to “Limited strength and endurance secondary to right arm impairment and [acromio-clavicular joint] resection.” [R. pp. 94 - 96]. Dr. Hughes assigned the

impairment rating and restrictions to the right arm even before the unsuccessful biceps tenodesis.

Both doctors concurred that Contreras is unable to return to work as a fire fighter. Both doctors stated he would need additional post-MMI treatment.

After his medical termination from the fire department in 2011, Contreras continued working part time as a cashier at the bowling alley. He hoped to be offered a manager job, but none was forthcoming. He sought work with the Federal Government and elsewhere, with no success.

Contreras underwent an Employability Evaluation by a certified vocational consultant, Jean Hutchinson, on October 10, 2011. [R. pp. 86 - 93]. The vocational expert reviewed Contreras' physical limitations, work history, education, and transferable skills. She opined:

I am of the opinion that Mr. Conteres [sic] is unable to perform the required job tasks of his former work as a fire department chief, is unable to return to his past employment as a landscape laborer, and does not have transferable skills to perform other work that is within his residual functional capacity. [R. p. 93, lines 1 - 5].

Hutchinson further noted Contreras is earning \$8.00 per hour working approximately five hours per week in an accommodated position. She opined should his physical limitations resolve to the point where he has more function and stamina, . . . [he] can expect to earn at or near minimum wage (\$7.25 - \$8.00 per hour) and would continue to experience a significant loss of earning capacity." [R. p. 93, lines 23 - 27].

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission. Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the APA, the appellate court can reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp. 2011).

“[T]he guiding principle undergirding our workers’ compensation system [is] that the Act is to be liberally construed in favor of the claimant. The second is the equally compelling evidentiary principle that an award may not rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.” Hutson v. S.C. State Ports Authority, 399 S.C. 381, 732 S.E.2d 500 (2012). The Commission’s decision “must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it.” Wynn v. People's Natural Gas Co. of S. C., 238 S.C. 1, 12, 118 S.E.2d 812, 818 (1961).

The Commission is permitted to disregard medical evidence only when there is other competent evidence in the record to support their conclusion. Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7, 395 S.C. 17, 716 S.E.2d 123 (Ct. App. 2011). Where a finding is based on “the medical opinion of the single commissioner, adopted by the Commission,” rather than on the opinion of a medical provider, the finding must be reversed as unsupported by substantial evidence. Burnette v. City of Greenville, 737 S.E.2d 200, 401 S.C. 417 (Ct. App. 2012). A conclusion by the Commission “based

on rank speculation . . . cannot now be used as the basis for denying [an injured worker's] claim for lost wages. Hutson at 504, 732 S.E.2d 694.

ARGUMENT

This appeal raises two sets of issues. The first set of issues goes to the interlocutory Order of the Appellate Panel filed on May 5, 2014. The second set of issues goes specifically to the Orders on Remand filed October 22, 2015 and May 27, 2016.

A. Issues regarding previous Appellate Panel Order reversing Single Commissioner Order and remanding to the Jurisdictional Commissioner.

The primary issue on appeal is a repeat of virtually the same error issue decided in Gilliam v. Woodside Mills, 461 S.E.2d 818, 319 S.C. 385 (1995) (“as a matter of law the hip socket is part of the pelvis and not part of the leg for workers’ compensation purposes”).

In the instant case, although Contreras undoubtedly suffered a serious injury to his shoulder, he also injured his right arm, specifically the biceps. The arm injury was serious enough to require a separate surgery, resulted in definable permanent impairment ratings, and left him with permanent pain, weakness, muscle atrophy and restrictions. Both surgeons opined Contreras suffered injuries to “right shoulder and right upper extremity, (right biceps) . . .” [R. pp. 94; 101].

The evidence shows Contreras’ injury is not limited to his shoulder. He therefore proved his right to proceed under the loss of earnings capacity statutes. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 (2007). As the undisputed evidence shows he suffered an actual loss of earnings capacity, the original disability award of the Single Commissioner should be reinstated.

1. The Appellate Panel erred in reversing and remanding for a scheduled member disability award to the shoulder when the evidence showed disability should have been awarded under the loss of earnings capacity statute.

Contreras has consistently argued that his injury was not limited to his shoulder – such that the disability award should have been made for loss of earnings capacity under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 (2007). Contreras adduced proof that he injured a second body part – the biceps muscle in his upper extremity – and that his upper extremity injury had caused additional disability. Contreras also proved injury to his clavicle. This proof, combined with the definitive proof of an actual loss of earnings capacity, confirm that the Appellate Panel erred in reversing the Single Commissioner’s original disability award. See Hutson v. S.C. State Ports Authority, 399 S.C. 381, 732 S.E.2d 500 (2012)(reversing denial of § 42-9-20 award where only evidence of residual earnings capacity was claimant’s unsupported speculation that he could open a restaurant, “thus, there is no evidence in the record supporting the commissioner’s order.”); Gilliam v. Woodside Mills, 461 S.E.2d 818, 319 S.C. 385 (1995)(claimant is entitled to proceed under loss earnings statute because “as a matter of law the hip socket is part of the pelvis and not part of the leg for workers’ compensation purposes”).

A. Framework for Disability Compensation in Workers’ Compensation Cases.

The Workers’ Compensation Act provides three methods to obtain compensation for permanent disability: 1) total disability under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10; 2) partial disability under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20; and 3) scheduled disability under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30. The first two methods are premised on the economic model. Under the economic model, the injured worker must prove an

actual loss of earnings capacity. The third method conclusively relies upon the medical model with its presumption of lost earning capacity. Wigfall v. Tideland Utils., Inc., 354 S.C. 100, 580 S.E.2d 100 (2003). The Commission is required to apply whichever statute provides the greatest benefits for the Claimant. See Brown v. Owen Steel Co., 316 S.C. 278, 280, 450 S.E.2d 57, 58 (Ct. App. 1994)(“The policy behind allowing a claimant to proceed under the general disability § 42-9-10 and § 42-9-20 allows for a claimant whose injury, while falling under the scheduled member section, nevertheless affects other parts of the body and warrants providing the claimant with the opportunity to establish a disability greater than the presumptive disability provided for under the scheduled member section.”).

In this case, the Single Commissioner made a § 42-9-20 disability award for partial loss of earning capacity under the economic model. The Appellate Panel reversed, remanding for a lesser § 42-9-30 award of specific disability to the shoulder under the medical model. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 (14)(2007)(providing compensation for loss of use of the shoulder). Had Contreras not suffered the injury to his upper extremity, such that his injury was *entirely* limited to his shoulder, then he would be limited to significantly less compensation under the medical model – not withstanding the fact he suffered a significant loss of his pre-injury earning capacity.

The basic rule set out in Singleton states, “Where the injury is confined to the scheduled member, and there is no impairment of any other part of the body because of such injury, the employee is limited to the scheduled compensation.” Singleton v. Young Lumber Co., 236 S.C. 454, 471, 114 S.E.2d 837, 845 (1960). The principle espoused in Singleton recognizes “the common-sense fact that, when two or more

scheduled injuries [or a scheduled and non-scheduled injury] occur together, the disabling effect may be far greater than the arithmetical total of the schedule allowances added together.” Wigfall, 354 S.C. 100, 106-07, 580 S.E.2d at 103. This rule is colloquially referred to as the “two-body part rule.”

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