THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Case No.: 2016-001247

Thomas Contreras, Claimant, Appellant,

v.

St. Johns Fire District Commission, Employer, and State Accident Fund, Carrier, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Margaret M. Urbanic
Clawson and Staubes, LLC
126 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 200
Charleston, SC 29492

Page Hilton
State Accident Fund
PO Box 102100
Columbia, SC 29221

Attorneys for Respondents

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

The Commission was correct in finding that the Claimant's injury was limited to the Appellant's shoulder. Appellant argues that the August 27, 2013 Single Commissioner order was correct in finding the Claimant injured his right upper extremity. The Single Commissioner's order was not supported by substantial evidence. The findings made by the Single Commissioner do not rely on the medical records from treating physicians but instead rely on questionnaires and on an IME. Appellant cites to the Single Commissioner's reference to Dr. Hughes' opinion. Dr. Hughes was hired by the Appellant's attorney for purposes of an IME and saw the Appellant once on October 6, 2011. Dr. Hughes' IME report notes that the Claimant injured his right shoulder. (R. p. 97). Furthermore, Dr. Hughes did not see the Appellant after his fourth and final surgery.

Appellant makes the conclusory statement in his brief that the Appellate Panel substituted its own medical opinion for the opinions of the doctors. Appellant asserts

that Burnette case is on point and that the Appellate Panel substituted its own medical opinion for that of the doctors. In Burnette, the court found that prior orders were not supported by substantial evidence. There was no evidence that the findings made by the commission originated from a medical provider and was forced to conclude that it was the medical opinion of the single commissioner. Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417 737 S.E.2d 200 (Ct. App. 2012). In the case at bar, the medical evidence clearly supports the findings of the Appellate panel as discussed at length in the facts section of this brief. Furthermore, it appears that the Appellant is substituting his opinion of that of the doctor's opinion by asserting that the fourth surgery was to alleviate arm pain.

Additionally, there seems to be an assumption that because the word biceps is used that this automatically means that the arm is involved. No medical testimony was elicited by either side and there is no evidence that use of the term biceps refers to the arm. The biceps attaches to the shoulder and arguable the term is being used as part of the shoulder. The operative note from October 11, 2010, gives a lengthy description of the procedure which is clearly a procedure on the Claimant's shoulder and references the bicep tendon as it attaches to the shoulder joint not as separate injury. (R. pp. 140-141). Furthermore, as noted in the November 22, 2011, the pain and treatment was for the Appellant's shoulder. (R. p. 114).

The rating from Dr. DeMarco states that Appellant has an 9% impairment to the shoulder and that this rating includes 3% biceps atrophy, 3% loss of internal rotation, 2% for loss of forward flexion and 1% for pain and muscle spasm. (R. p. 104). The reference to the biceps is included as part of the shoulder in the rating assigned by Dr. DeMarco.

The medical records in this case clearly show that the years of medical treatment were all pertaining to the Appellant's shoulder. Other than the check the box questionnaires prepared by Claimant's attorney and presented to the doctors, there is little reference to any other body parts other than the Claimant's shoulder. Dr. DeMarco completed a questionnaire prepared by Claimant's attorney. As noted by the Commission, this was essentially a check the box questionnaire. (R. p. 49). This is the only reference in the medical records to the upper extremity being affected. The Commission has the ability to weigh and disregard medical evidence when there is other evidence in the record which is exactly what the Commission did in this case. The Commission clearly relied on the medical records and disregarded the medical questionnaires prepared by the Claimant's attorney.

Appellant relies on Singleton v. Young Lumber Co., 236 S.C. 454, 114 S.E. 2d 837 (1960), for the proposition that in order for a claimant to obtain compensation in addition to a scheduled member, the claimant must show that some other part of his body is affected. In Simmons v. City of Charleston, 349 S.C. 64, 76, 562 S.E.2d 476, 482 (Ct. App. 2002), this court held that if there is substantial evidence presented that shows that the claimant suffers additional complications to another part of the body, other than the scheduled member, the claimant is entitled to proceed under the general disability statute. However, as noted by the Simmons court, there still must be a showing of substantial evidence to demonstrate that additional body parts were affected. Substantial evidence must be a higher standard than just having a doctor sign off on a "check the box" questionnaire. The substantial evidence in the record does not support a finding that more than one body part was affected. The overwhelming evidence in this case is that Appellant only injured his right shoulder. More importantly,

there is substantial evidence in the record to support the findings of the Commission's order and it should be affirmed.

II. The Appellate Panel was correct in finding that the Appellant did not suffer a wage loss under § 42-9-20.

The Full Commission Order of May 2014 was correct in finding that case should be remanded to determine an awarded under the scheduled member statute as oppose to a wage loss case. The only injury was to the Claimant's right shoulder. Claimant did not suffer an injury to his right upper extremity. The medical evidence clearly supports this. Appellant initially went to the ER with complaints to the right shoulder. (R. p. 438). The first orthopedist to see the Appellant was Dr. Spearman. The initial complaint was that of right shoulder pain. (R. p. 177). Appellant's care was then taken over by Dr. Jaskwhich on December 19, 2008. Dr. Jaskwhich noted that Claimant was suffering from popping and catching in his right shoulder. A MRI showed a superior labral tear. (R. p. 175). Dr. Jaskwhich performed a right shoulder arthroscopic repair of superior labrum anterior-posterior (SLAP) tear on January 29, 2009. (R. pp. 144-145). In the follow up notes, Dr. Jaskwhich only discusses problems with the Claimant's shoulder. Dr. Spearman performed the second arthroscopic procedure on Claimant's right shoulder in October of 2009. (R. p. 166). Dr. Jaskwhich then took over the Claimant's follow up care post surgery. Dr. Jaskwhich noted in May of 2010 that Claimant's chief complaint was for right shoulder pain. (R. p. 164). Dr. Jaskwhich did not recommend additional surgery. On July 14, 2010, Dr. Jaskwhich noted that although the Claimant still had right shoulder pain, he was at maximum medical improvement. (R. p. 162). Dr. Jaskwhich assigned a 10% rating to the right shoulder based on his persistent pain, soreness and weakness in his right shoulder.

Appellant's care was then transferred to Dr. DeMarco. On the new patient information form, Claimant indicated the location of his pain was the right shoulder. (R. p. 134). Dr. DeMarco first saw the Claimant on August 6, 2010. The chief complaint listed was a right shoulder injury. On October 11, 2010, Dr. DeMarco performed the third surgery on Claimant's shoulder, a sub-acromial decompression and excision of glenohumeral ligament with previous SLAP repair and debridement. (R. p. 122).

Appellant's last surgery was on March 29, 2012. Appellant contends that this specifically was intended to alleviate arm pain. However, prior to the surgery on March 19, 2012, the parties had agreed to a consent order that Appellant had an injury to his right shoulder and was to return to Dr. DeMarco for more surgery. The consent order does not mention the arm, bicep or clavicle. (R. p. 1). It seems logical that had the Appellant felt that this surgery was really intended for his arm as oppose to his shoulder that the consent order entered into mere weeks before surgery would address this. Surgery was performed on March 29, 2012. The preoperative diagnosis was right shoulder coracoid impingement, right shoulder intra-articular synovitis and adhesions, right shoulder subacronial impingement with adhesions and right shoulder long head of biceps tendinopathy. The post operative diagnosis was right shoulder coracoid impingement, right shoulder intra-articular synovitis and adhesions, right shoulder subacronial impingement with adhesions and right shoulder long head of biceps tendinopathy. (R. p. 138). Clearly, all of the treatment was for the right shoulder and that any award should be issued under § 42-9-30 not § 42-9-20.

The Appellate Panel of May 5, 2014 did explain the reversal of the Single Commissioner's disability award by finding that the case was limited to recovery under

§42-9-30. Appellant argues that there is evidence of the loss of earnings capacity. No doubt in a lot of work compensation cases, the claimant could argue that they suffered a loss of earnings capacity; however, this in and of itself does not make a loss of earnings capacity case. The mere fact that the Appellant cannot return to work as a firefighter also does not make it a loss of earnings capacity case. The Appellate Panel made findings of fact that are supported by the substantial evidence in the record. Nothing requires a detailed explanation as to how the panel arrived at its findings, the issue on the appeal is whether the findings are supported by the evidence or if there is an error of law. The Appellate Panel found after a *de novo* review of the record which included extensive medical records that the Appellant only suffered an injury to the shoulder. If the Appellant only suffered an injury to one body then, he is only entitled to an award under §42-9-30.

III. The Appellate Panel was correct that the clavicle was not found compensable and that this issue was not preserved on appeal.

Appellant argues that the Single Commissioner's order did not making a specific finding as to the clavicle and that this issue has never been addressed. Had the Appellant wanted to preserve the issue of the whether the clavicle was compensable and felt that the Single Commissioner should have addressed it, he should have appealed this issue to the Appellate Panel. Issues not raised on appeal are not preserved for review. Rodney v. Michelin Tire Corp., 320 S.C. 515, 466 S.E.2d 357 (S.C. 1996).

However, if the Court believes that the Appellant did properly preserve this issue on appeal, it is clear that the Appellant's clavicle was not injured as a result of this accident. Appellant tries to argue that the terminology distal clavicle resection and right

shoulder acromioclavicular joint means that the clavicle or collarbone is involved. There is no medical evidence to support this. Specifically, Appellant references the third surgical procedure that was done as proof that his clavicle was injured. The post surgical note of October 20, 2010 lists the chief complaint as status post right shoulder SAD and excision of glenohumeral ligament with previous SLAP repair and debridement. (R. p. 122).³ On January 21, 2011, Dr. DeMarco assigns an impairment rating of 7% to the right upper extremity which converts to an 11% shoulder impairment. (R. p. 119). This rating is prior to Appellant's fourth surgery. There is no mention of the clavicle or collarbone as being involved when Dr. DeMarco assigned an impairment rating following the third surgery.

Dr. Hughes, who only saw the Appellant once, is the only doctor who found that the clavicle was injured. Dr. Hughes, an orthopedist who performed an IME issued a 14% rating to the shoulder and did not issue a separate rating to Claimant's upper extremity. On the check the box questionnaire supplied to Dr. Hughes by the Claimant's attorney, Dr. Hughes left it blank when asked if there was any impairment to the upper extremity. (R. p. 95). Dr. Hughes wrote in the words "distal" and "A-C joint" next to clavicle when asked about ratings. The distal clavicle and the A-C joint are different from the clavicle. This is the only reference to the clavicle being injured. Neither Dr. DeMarco nor Dr. Jaskwhich the primary treating physicians ever reference an injury to the clavicle.

³ A SLAP tear is an injury to the labrum of the shoulder, which is the ring of cartilage that surrounds the socket of the shoulder joint. www.orthoinfo.aaos.org

IV. Appellant failed to preserve any issue regarding payment of temporary partial disability benefits.

Appellant argues that the Single Commissioner would have been within the remand instructions for the Single Commissioner to order TPD. The Single Commissioner found that he could not address any other issues beyond PPD as the remand was clearly just for a determination under §42-9-30. As the Single Commissioner's order doesn't address TPD, this issue isn't properly before the Appellate Panel and therefore this Appellate Panel is without jurisdiction to address this issue. If the Court does address this issue, the calculation presented by the Appellant is not supported by the record.

Appellant alleges that the Claimant should be entitled to 80 weeks of TPD from January 20, 2011 through August 7, 2012. As noted by the Appellant, a Form 17 was signed by the Appellant. (R. p. 71). The Form 17 reflects that TT was paid from October 18, 2010 through September 4, 2011. Temporary total benefits actually continued until September 25, 2011 as the Form 17 wasn't filed until September 30, 2011. The Full Commission found that the Claimant was paid temporary total benefits from October 18, 2010 through September 25, 2011 and that benefits were suspended as a result of a signed Form 17 filed on September 30, 2011. (R. p. 48). Finding of Fact #25 was not part of the 2013 Single Commissioner's order. This finding is critical as it shows that temporary total benefits were properly suspended as a result of the Form 17 being signed.

Claimant argues that Finding of Fact #27 of the Full Commission order dated May 5, 2014 requires the Single Commissioner to order temporary partial disability. Finding of Fact #27 was in the 2013 Single Commissioner's order and clearly was just

left in the Full Commission order as there was no directive to remove it. Finding of Fact # 27 which is the same in both the Single Commissioner's order and the Full Commission's order was not appealed which is why it remained in the Full Commission's order. As Claimant signed a Form 17, there was no reason for his weekly benefits to resume. Furthermore, Claimant was paid the maximum comp rate for 2008 and would not be entitled to any other temporary total benefits for this period. There was never a request to restart weekly benefits by the Claimant. Appellant contends that he should receive 80 weeks of TPD benefits but provides no basis for this calculation. It appears that Appellant is alleging that TPD benefits should start from January 20, 2011 however clearly, based on the dates of the Form 17, Appellant was receiving TT benefits until September 25, 2011. Furthermore, the carrier overpaid TT benefits from June 21, 2011 and should be awarded a credit for this time. Claimant would receive a windfall if this is ordered.

Appellant alleges that in May 5, 2014 Appellate Panel order (R. pp. 35-51), the omission of the Single Commissioner's finding of fact #28 on temporary partial wage loss is an error. Appellant raises issues from the Appellate Panel order filed May 5, 2014, that were not previously raised on Appellant's first appeal to the Court of Appeals and the Appellate should be barred from arguing these issues on appeal. On May 5, 2014, the Appellate Panel reversed the order of the Single Commissioner and found that the Appellant only suffered an injury to his right shoulder and that the case should be remanded to the jurisdictional commissioner for a hearing under §42-9-30. Appellant then filed their first appeal and raised the following issues: whether the Appellate Panel erred in reversing and remanding for a scheduled member disability award to the shoulder when the evidence showed disability should have been awarded

under the loss of earning capacity statute and whether the Appellate Panel erred in holding that the Single Commissioner did not find the clavicle compensable. The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal as being interlocutory. Appellant can not decided that they now want to appeal additional issues from that order. Issues not raised on appeal are not preserved for review. Rodney v. Michelin Tire Corp., 320 S.C. 515, 466 S.E.2d 357 (S.C. 1996).

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the order of the Commission should be affirmed in its entirety.